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PART A

CHRONOLOGY

This is the chronology  referred to in paragraph 13 the judgment of the Employment Appeal Tribunal in this case.  

It is a chronology which refers to some of the documents before the Employment Tribunal.   It  is an incomplete and in that sense an inaccurate chronology of the background documents and of the background events referred to in them.  

In setting out this chronology we are not seeking to make, and are not making any findings of fact.  

Some of the points made reflect findings of fact made by the Employment Tribunal and are therefore findings of fact that are binding on us. But some of the extracts cited set out contentions and recollections which are not agreed and as to which the Employment Tribunal did not (and did not have to) make findings of fact.  Those extracts are not included as an indication that the contents of the extracts are true, but it is common ground that the assertions were made in the documents referred to and therefore that the documents and their contents form part of the history. 

Also the documents referred to in the chronology were before the Employment Tribunal and they “flesh out” and provide the background against which their admirable recitation of the history and background, and their findings of fact, fall to be read.  This is because the parties are aware of the contents of the documents before the Employment Tribunal and the Employment Tribunal do not have to set out in their Extended Reasons all the background facts.  The parties would read their Extended Reasons with their knowledge of the background documents.

1994
Mrs Hedden started to work with Mr and Mrs A following the placement with Mr and Mrs A of two children B and C with a view to their adoption

May 1995
The placement was under some stress and a dispute/discussion arose between Mrs Hedden and Ms Ronald, the Social Worker employed by the Social Services Department of the local authority.  Part of the dispute/discussion related to B’s adjustment to the placement and her expressed wish to have contact with her birth mother.

June 1995
Miss Ronald wrote to the Board’s Adoption Director suggesting that the Board provide another support worker to work with Mr and Mrs A in place of Mrs Hedden and that she (Miss Ronald) should also withdraw from the case.

28 July 1995
The Adoption Director, Caroline Davis, (with others) visited Mr and Mrs A and suggested to them, and they agreed, that her recently appointed deputy Mr Goodwin should take over the support role from Mrs Hedden.

Late July 1995
Mrs Hedden sent a review of the placement to Caroline Davis.  This review is a lengthy document which contains the following statements under the following headings:

“FORM E

She (i.e. B) is still in some confusion and experiencing distress because of her unsettled background and coming to terms with being without her Mum.  She would like to have face to face contact with her mother.  Her general level of functioning is depressed.  A very insecure child who demands a great deal of attention.

PARENTING STRENGTHS

The [****] have taken the children back to Plymouth for their contact with [****] MGM where they met at the ex-foster parents home initially.  The [****] felt that [****] had a tendency to undermine them sometimes even when the SW was present but the last meeting, (also at a different venue) was more successful and positive.

SOCIAL WORKER INVOLVEMENT

The most significant sessions were on September 1 1994, March 6 and May 11 1995.  Detailed records are available.

My last discussion with [****] on May 11 had been prompted by a composition prepared at school for V.E. day which the teacher thought significant enough for the social workers to see.  [****] had described how her mother, father and all her pets had died.  She had called out for help but there had been no one there.  The Police had become involved but the outcome was fairly obscure.

At the subsequent Review on May 16 1995 the [****] said they understood [****] to tell them I had said [****] was living in her old flat.  I replied this was not so - I did not know where [****] lived.

I believe my position was then substantiated when after the review [****] returned from school and went over to Jenny Deacon.  She asked her whether her Mum was living in ‘the old flat’.

More than a month later on June 6 I was to learn from a chance remark of [****] [****] that [****] had stated I had said she could see her mother [****] every month.

I was not surprised by [****]’s statement.  I had not been able to give her the information she wanted in my session with her so it was natural for her to fill the ‘gaps’ herself and her own wishful thinking provided the answers.

What 9/10 year old child would not quote a grown-up to support her case if a) I was not there to contradict her and b) if she sense resistance or opposition to what she wanted?

I was more surprised that my colleagues thought I was apparently capable of making such a statement.

THE DIFFICULTIES

Tensions first arose noticeably between the adoptive parents and the social workers in late April 1995.  Jenny Deacon SW contacted me by telephone the week beginning April 24 expressing concern at the strained relationship she had witnessed between [****] and [****] [****] at an outing they had all shared together, as two families, at Paignton Zoo the previous week.

The terms of an Adoption order

The fact that [****], as part of her preparation for an adoptive placement had stated that she would like face to face contact with her birth mother.  This is recorded on her Form E.

We know also that [****] has not yet come to terms with her mother’s limitations and personal difficulties and wanted in a magical moment to see [****] every month as well as keep her adopted parents as her own.

One of the reasons contact with a birth relative is considered valuable is that it enables the child to get to know them as a real person.  It has been known for children to idealise them otherwise only to be seriously disillusioned later.

If [****] were able to co-operate at all in this, and it is still an untested proposal and the children could really be helped to understand and come to terms with their mother’s ambiguity:  Sometimes [****] has got it right.  Some of her parenting in those early years was very good ‘the children responded well to her and appeared well cared for’.  She attended some of the Planning meetings but not all of them.  [****] kept the very important appointment to meet [****] and [****].

[****] decision not to retain contact with the children was not only because of her unreliability but ‘because she would find it too painful’.  The social workers who knew her considered alongside her instability ‘she cared deeply for the children’. 

At the last meeting of June 20 1995 [****] [****] set down conditions for a possible face to face meeting with [****].  One of those conditions was that [****] must attend.  In an ideal world, she would.  The reality is that she will probably get it right some of the time.  Those are the times when [****] and [****] will need the support of [****] and [****] - to help them understand their mother’s limitations without being harshly judgmental of her.  Emotionally the children will be more dependent upon the [****] who have already demonstrated to the children their total reliability and tenacity:  Those of us who have come to know [****] and [****] well through often stressful and exhaustive times know they have the ability to succeed.  They have also shown that they can be adaptable – surely a vital component in parenting.

The Courts have to grant contact to a great many people who are not 100% reliable.  Clearly there must inevitably be instability or inability evident in every divorce and every adoption hearing.  Contact is granted when it is thought to be in the children’s interest.  As case histories are judged, [****] could rightly say she had acted responsibly by seeking an adoptive family for her children.  This being so the Court would properly look favourably on an application for contact.  [****] was and is telling us it would help her personally, whatever form it took.  All other considerations apart it would normalise her life.  There must be other children in her school, even class whose parents are divorced (so separated) yet retain some kind of meaningful contact with the absent birth parent.

I am sure the Court would prefer us all to work with the current social work plan, in conjunction with the Family Consultation Centre to gauge the kind of benefit it can offer the children.  

Within a few months it should be clear what the future pattern is likely to be.  We will know what contact is feasible not forgetting the [****]’s own relatives’ time.  This way the children could grow up knowing everything they asked for was tried, even if it failed ultimately.  As adults their respect for [****] and [****] will be all the greater for knowing they had helped them try and incorporate all of their lives both past and future.”

10 August 1995
The Adoption Director, Caroline Davis, told Mrs Hedden that Mr Goodwin   was to take over her role in working with Mr and Mrs A.  Mrs Hedden was not happy with this decision.

23 August 1995
Mrs Hedden wrote to the Adoption Director enclosing a letter she had written to Mr and Mrs A indicating that she would be seeking from the Adoption Director the reasons for her replacement so that she could convey them to the children B and C.  That letter contains the following passages:

“There are several aspects of the Agency work which needed to be arranged or formalised and some explained to the children, as far as it affects them so that their feelings are respected …

B especially, is old enough to remember this part of her life with great clarity as she matures and I would not wish her or C to feel that my departure (if there is to be one) represents in any way rejection of her or what she shared with me when we met together.

Caroline has given me a brief account of your discussion of July 28, but concentrated on the conclusion of the meeting which I understand means our Agency’s being less involved than hitherto, during this stage of the children’s placement.  As soon as I have had clarification I am seeking, I will be in touch again and will look forward to seeing you all again.  I am sorry I missed you last time on July 27.”

23 August 1995
Mrs Hedden also wrote to Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director, on this date.  In this letter Mrs Hedden said this:

“If I can be reasonably convinced that the decision taken was based on these shared values and does not leave some social work principles compromised and even deficient, then I will pursue the proper procedure for a change of representative from our Agency and make appropriate preparation in as far as it affects children.”

5 September 1995
The Adoption Director replied to Mrs Hedden.  This letter contains the following statements:

“ … We know that you are concerned about this decision for at least two reasons; first that it appears to imply criticism of your handling of the case to date, and secondly that it may be a way for the two agencies to overlook or shy away from issues in the case which ought to be of genuine concern to us.  We hope that we can reassure you about each of these issues.

The visit which we made was not conducted for the purpose of reviewing the case or the planning involved, or to consider in any detail any specific issues or events.  Its purpose was to listen to Mr and Mrs A’s perspective, to see how they were feeling about the placement and the support they needed as a family.  This was done in the context of general agreement between the workers involved in both Agencies that professional differences and working relationships had deteriorated to a point from which it would be difficult to retreat.

You are right to say that no formal complaint has been made and we have not attempted to arbitrate between your position and that of Clare Ronald.  We should also stress that no complaint, formal or otherwise was made by Mr and Mrs A.  We both felt that whatever the whys and wherefores, the differences in style of working and the growing tensions between the representatives of each Agency were not going to be helpful in addressing or resolving whatever issues of substance will need to be addressed.  There is, of course, no desire to sweep legitimate concerns and issues under the carpet and we recognise that the work with B will need to continue.  The decision to introduce a different Families for Children worker was not the result of complaints against your practice or concerns on that score felt by either of us.  We believe that Clare Ronald will also be withdrawing from involvement in reviewing the children’s placement and that this also will be helpful in enabling a fresh start to be made.”

14 September 1995
A statutory review of the placement was held which was attended by (amongst others) Mrs Hedden and Mr Goodwin.  One of the issues discussed was Mrs Hedden being able to say goodbye to the children.

9 October 1995
Mrs Hedden sent a letter of this date to Chris Jarvis the Practice Supervisor at the Social Services Department.  It appears that she had compiled that letter on 2 October 1995.  She opens the letter by saying that it is the first opportunity she had had as the link worker to let the local authority have her comments under the provision of Part 10 of the review format:

“Twice, I have been asked by your Care Manager to be the conveyor of sensitive issues to Mr and Mrs [****]:

Particular concerns of your Care Manager about their parenting (April 17/26 – exact details available)

Your Care Manager’s proposed plan to help [****] to become more self-confident and improve her sense of self-worth.

I undertook both tasks exactly as requested.  The [****] themselves were clear, in relation to (2) that your Care Manager proposed to give [****] more positive information about both her birth parents, notably her birth mother [****].  Secondly, whilst taking into account [****]’s personal difficulties, to also consider ways in which she could realistically assist [****] in the placement.  This might include at some stage a meeting if this proved helpful to [****].  The [****] at the time of my discussion with them on May 11 1995 expressed a willingness to co-operate in [****] interests, as they had in their original adoption application.

The roles in this placement were certainly challenged at this point, most markedly by [****]’s direct request, repeated twice, for face to face contact with her birth mother and further complicated by her wishful thinking and fantasy that this could be every month.  It should be noted this did not emerge for several days.  The [****] had already told us before the May 16 Review and reiterated at the September 14 Review, that [****] still has an entrenched problem in relating the truth, preferring, indeed adhering to her version of what she wants it to be.

A collusive element then influenced the placement led by [**** ****] who is known to have an underlying deriding opinion of both birth parents.  The child’s wish and right to face to face contact seems to have been suppressed as a result.

For instance, at the child’s September 14 1995 Review, of which you were the Reviewing Officer, no reference was made at all to [****]’s actual request for face to face contact with her birth mother, which remains on record from May 11 1995.  Contact is surely a crucial consideration of every statutory Review, especially for a child of ten years whose first 7½ formative years had been spent in her mother’s care?

There was limited reference to your Care Manager’s recent interviews with [****]’s birth father, [**** ****].  It was not made clear at the Review whether [****] had been told that her father had approached the Department expressing an interest in her welfare.  I hope she was.  The information would have been reassuring to her, in view of her fears, expressed in some school work in May of this year that her father was dead and she had at that time been given no positive input about him.

If my pursuing the principle of actual face to face contact with the birth mother, at the direct request of the child when it is feasible to arrange, is the basis of your apology for ‘professional differences of opinion’ given to Mr and Mrs [****] on September 14 1995, how does your Department corporately reconcile this with your legal duty under Section 20 and Section 22 (4) (a) of the Children Act 1989?

How does your Care Manager, Jenny Deakin reconcile her attendance at the formal discussion convened on June 20 1995 and chaired by Claire Ronald of your Department when the first and main subject discussed was the prospect of the birth mother’s face to face contact?

[**** ****] confirmed his acceptance of [****] needs in this respect by presenting his conditions for such a meeting (details attached under Addendum One).

Claire Ronald circulated her own collated research on the reasons for the change towards direct contact and by endorsing my continuing support to the [****] both before and after the proposed face to face meeting, implied an obvious consensus of approach.

CONCLUSION

In the preceding pages I have endeavoured to present the interests of two children, potentially, but one specifically, in the following ways:

1)  To ensure that a child who has consistently asked for face to face contact with her birth mother, however occasional that contact would need to be, should have her views respected:  as is her right in law.

2)  That the children’s statutory Reviews should be properly conducted, accurately recorded and circulated promptly to ensure that the child’s interests are fairly represented in that document.

3)  I have asked, both at the conclusion of the child’s most recent Review on September 14 1995 and in this communication that [****] who is now ten years old, should attend at least some of her review and take part appropriately in decisions which affect her life.

[****] adoptive parents [****] and [**** ****] have many strengths, but as the history of the placement has clearly indicated, they cannot meet the child’s emotional needs in total or even I believe they have conceded to me personally, sufficiently:  given that the child had already established a significant – predominant emotional bond to her birth mother.  Vera Fahlberg’s paper ‘Parental Contact’ confirms that the adoptive parents’ relationship with the child would be enhanced, not deterred if both were coexistent.  Again current law upholds this view.

The [****] gave a commitment to open adoption in their original adoption application.  They have incorporated contact with the children’s maternal grandmother accordingly.  Even though [****] values this contact, it is not sufficiently meaningful for her, in that a year into her new placement, she is described by her Care Manager as ‘remaining an insecure and emotionally immature child’.

The Social Services Inspectorate paper, published this year in ‘Post-adoption Contact’ states:

‘Agency practice should recognise the dynamic nature of contact needs’.

The Care Plan:

The justification for refusing the child’s own known wishes, set out in the un-amended Minutes of the May 16 1995 child’s Review, was based on a decision taken pre-placement and even then against overwhelming clinical evidence of Peter Jones, Educational Psychologist. (11 4 94).

The reasoning given included the fear that the birth mother might make an ‘unplanned, out of the blue’ visit to the children.  This would not be possible in an unknown location, ie an adoptive placement.

That the birth mother’s life style was ‘chaotic’, that she was unreliable.  She has nevertheless attended some of the Planning meetings, the appointment to meet the [****] and this year showed an equal commitment in painstakingly painting her daughter a picture, in the one annual ‘letterbox’ contact permitted by your Department.  For the record I understand that she was upset by your Department’s decision she should not be able to send birthday cards on the children’s birthdays, but a date designated between the two, in mid August.

Having already met [****]’s birth mother [****] the [****] already know she is no threat nor will be obstructive towards them.  [****] the children’s previous foster mother who worked closely with [****] described her at a pre-adoptive placement meeting as ‘a very nice person’.

Whatever insurmountable personal problems [****] has which prevent her from parenting the children into adulthood and this was accepted as fact and endorsed by two Adoption Panels, there is no evidence of physical/sexual abuse (ref: page 1, child’s adoption medical 11 3 94).  The child’s Form E identified some parenting strengths, one of which, physical demonstrations of affection, exceeds the adoptive parents and was seen by the child’s Care Manager on May 3 1995 as a necessary and positive contribution the birth mother could make in person to the placement to aid its ultimate success.

From the 1994 and 1995 published studies made available to me by the Social Services Inspectorate there is a clear direction in practice as well as law, where Courts are granting contact to birth parents in cases of proven neglect and abuse.  Now Courts are of the opinion that the child has the right to remain in touch in person, with a meaningful adult to her/him.  Clearly changes to the legislation in 1983 were supported by the European Court of Human Rights in July 1987 in the judgments made against the United Kingdom Government.

I give your Department formal notice that I will myself be asking to be heard at the time of the [****] adoption application to the County Court on this matter if it has not been satisfactorily resolved for the child before then.

I now require a formal statement of intent from your Department specifying your policy of direct contact in the care plan as well as your personal understanding of the professional differences of opinion for which you apologised to Mr and Mrs [****] on September 14 1995.

Because of the repercussions your statement has made on my own position in the placement I would need to receive your written reply by October 19 1995.

Otherwise I will, on this date, be submitting a formal complaint to Yvonne Roxby, Customer Services Officer on behalf of a qualifying individual.  I will simultaneously send a copy of these papers to your Director because of the seriousness of your Department’s negligence under Section 20 and Section 22 (4) (a).  I will be pursuing this same matter through to the Local Authority Ombudsman on the grounds of maladministration covering all the matters raised in this communication.

In your reply it would be necessary to offer assurance in actual material evidence that the Minutes of the children’s statutory Reviews are properly amended to reflect the known facts at the time in all respects and representing the children’s interests fully.

Secondly, in consultation with [****] and [**** ****] who should be advised of the legal position, inform the birth mother [****] of her daughter’s request for face to face contact:  The actual time for a meeting dependent on the well-being of the birth mother and the convenience of the [**** **** ****]’s conditions, as set out at the formal meeting on June 20 1995 could be met in full and in order not to encroach further on their own time and family commitments:  -the possibility of exchanging one of the maternal grandmother’s sessions for such a meeting?  Whilst [****] is appreciative of her grandmother’s contact it is likely she would forgo one contact meeting with her for the chance to see her birth mother, if such a course were preferable to [****] and [**** ****].

12 October 1995
Mr Goodwin wrote to the adoptive parents in the following terms:

“Following the review meeting on 14 September 1995, I am just writing to confirm that we arranged for Brenda and I to visit you and the children on Monday 23 October at 11.30 am during half-term week.  I understand that Jenny would also be there.

I feel that the primary purpose of the visit is to enable Brenda to say her goodbyes.  A crucial aspect of this will be to ensure that [****] and [****] do not feel rejected by Brenda, because this is obviously not the case, and that [****] in particular, can know that Brenda has not ignored or undervalued her feelings, views and wishes expressed during their conversations together.  To this end I hope that it will be beneficial for us all to spend this time together.

I feel that the secondary purpose is simply for me to show my face again and be ‘formally’ introduced as this Agency’s support worker.”

13 October 1995
Mrs Hedden wrote to the adoptive parents in the following terms:

“My apologies for taking so long to acknowledge your letter dated September 14, given to me that day with your comments on the placement record dated July 24 1995.

I have nevertheless often thought about you all and was pleased to have the opportunity to see you in September even within the rather formal setting of a Review.

I would be pleased to have a session together when I could bring the extra detail you seek, and I could let you have a printed copy of the Schedule 11 which you asked about earlier, Alan, I had difficulty reading some of your own comments – the photocopying was too light in places but no doubt you could sort this out when we meet.

Unfortunately I have several families being linked at the moment and there has been an exceptional amount of travelling in and outside Devon.  I have to be in London after October 23 when we are having a meeting with the children so perhaps the week after that? or whatever suits you both.  I would prefer a Saturday morning to an evening unless you are due any time off during the day?  Some hopes knowing your Bank!

PS.  There have been some further discussions since Nick Goodwin last wrote to you so perhaps in relation to the children’s understanding of our coming to see you, it would be as well to leave it more ‘open’ then finite!  We can obviously let you know what the Agency considerations now are when we meet and hear your views.”


That letter was posted on 17 October 1995.

16 October 1995
Mrs Hedden wrote to Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director.  This letter contains the following comments:

“I have received Nick Goodwin, your Deputy’s letter dated October 12 1995 and copy letter to Mr and Mrs [****] in which Nick Goodwin sets out his proposed plan for the meeting at the [****]’s home on 23 October.  The explanation Nick Goodwin provides in his letter to give to the children to justify the change of worker is neither sufficient nor accurate and would be misleading to the children to present it.

You will have noted that I have not yet formally accepted the terms set out in your letter dated September 5 1995 written jointly by yourself and Jonathan Hepworth, Adoption Agency Manager of the Social Services Department.

This is because I have been waiting to receive from you a precise reason for your decision I should be withdrawn from this placement.  The reasons you set out in the letter of September 5 1995 are, as yet, unsubstantiated, viz:

1)  That professional differences of opinion exist.

2)  That working relationships had deteriorated to a point from which it would be difficult to retreat.

What do you mean?”


The letter ended with the following paragraphs:

“If you persist in this decision, which legally I am advised is detrimental to my career then you would need grounds that would convince a Tribunal were fair, necessary in the children’s interests, and based on fact.  I have yet to hear from you what these are.

I am asking therefore that there is a more open view of my involvement in this placement solely in relation to the children’s needs and the duty we owe them as an Agency.

I know the [****] very well.  I am confident we can continue to work together.  The tone of [**** ****] letter demonstrates our ability to relate even though we sometimes differ – this is the very dimension we want [****] to develop in his own parenting of the children.

Either way, whilst pursuing my own rights, I do not intend to lose sight of [***] and [****]’s in this placement, when we have the law on our side and [****]’s development in particular, is being shown to be unnecessarily impaired.”

20 October 1995
Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director, wrote to Mrs Hedden in the following terms:

“I have received a copy of letter you sent to [****] and [****] dated October 13th 1995.  I have also had a discussion with [****].  I told [****] that the decision made on 28th July 1995 to withdraw you from the case still stands and this is the Agency position.

The meeting on Monday is an opportunity for you to say Goodbye to [****] and [****] and assure them that the work you have undertaken with them has been shared with Jenny Deakin.

Whilst it is clear that you retain strong feelings about the situation I do expect you to handle the meeting on Monday as directed.”

21 October 1995
Mrs Hedden replied.  That letter contains the following paragraphs:

“You must know me well enough now to acknowledge that I do not operate on ‘strong feelings’ as you refer in your letter October 20.  I seek advice appropriately, in this case, a) legally b) from a different Manager within the same Social Services Department and thirdly outside both Agencies with an authoritative status over both.

Regretfully this latter course has been necessary as neither yourself nor your deputy Nick Goodwin have given me valid grounds for your collusion with the Plymouth District as you have done against the child [****]’s rights under Section 20 and Section 22(4) (a) and so against my position.

As you know I have had to formalise the complaint on behalf of a qualifying individual with the Customer Services Officer on October 19 1995.  This has been accepted and is being processed within the Social Services Department.

As you have not responded to my request for a reconsideration of your decision, nor provided the grounds nor the component parties who took that decision without my knowledge nor representation, nor the facts on which it was finalised I am now processing a complaint in relation to your management of these circumstances.  I am seeking facts.  I asked for a full investigation as long ago as June 30 1995.  You have admitted in your letter September 5 1995 that this was not done.  I must therefore seek it outside this Agency.”

23 October 1995
Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director, prepared a report on the adoptive family which was headed “PLEASE NOTE THIS IS A QUICK RESUME OF THE SITUATION AND IS CONFIDENTIAL TO THE AGENCY – NOT FOR USE IN GRIEVANCE OR OTHER PROCEDURES”.  This report contained the following paragraphs:

“Brenda was involved in working with [****] early on in the placement when Mr and Mrs [****] were going through a difficult time.  It was agreed by both Agencies (Social Services and Families for Children) that Brenda was the most suitable person to undertake this work.  Brenda said that through the work [****] was expressing feelings about how her parents and pets had all died and Brenda felt this indicated [****]’s feelings of sadness.  [****] talked to Brenda about her birth mother.  There is then some confusion between Brenda, Jenny Deakin (Devon Social Services) and Mr and Mrs [****] about what actually was said to [****] about the possibility of further contact with her birth mother – Mr & Mrs [****] have met with the mother and have contact with maternal grandmother.

These disagreements have grown over the last few months.  All parties are agreed that [****]’s feelings need to be carefully acknowledged and her wishes regarding contact with her birth mother clearly recognised and acted upon.  To bring this about and in order not to lose sight of [****]’s need for an improved sense of identity the Family Consultancy Service in North Devon have been involved since January 1995.

Brenda feels that Mr & Mrs [****] should be confronted and challenged in order to accept contact with her birth mother.  Devon County Council and the line taken by myself as Adoption Director, is that the family need to be supported and encouraged.

….  The meeting confirmed the growing difficulties and tensions between Brenda, the [****] and Devon Social Services Staff.  At this time Mr and Mrs [****] said they were wary of Brenda and were finding it difficult to work with the different styles of approach.  It was agreed that Brenda would be withdrawn as the support worker for Mr and Mrs [****] and that Nick Goodwin would take over the case.

On 23 October 1995, I received the letter from Brenda informing me that she was taking a grievance out against me.

The final visit which also took place on 23rd October was described by [**** ****] as a ‘fiasco’.  Nick eventually managed to get everyone to agree a statement to be read out to the children.  The meeting had to be disbanded and was traumatic for all involved.  I had three lengthy telephone calls with Mr [****] during the day.  He stated to me that the credibility of this Agency is ‘rock bottom’ and that he would advise anyone not to adopt through us.  Mr [****] feels that Brenda should not have been allowed a final visit to the children ‘based on her past track record’ and that he and his wife have always seen her as ‘more of a latent threat than supportive’.  Hopefully [****] and [****] have only a limited awareness of what has taken place, but they must be conscious of the anger between the adults at the meeting.  At one stage Brenda produced a dictaphone and asked Mr [****] to make a statement into this – he refused.

Mr [****] said that Brenda left today still implying that she would have further contact with the family – also suggesting that they need to contact a Solicitor.  Mr and Mrs [****] are left feeling threatened and vulnerable- this may well be how the children are also feeling.

All I have been able to do is apologise to Mr and Mrs [****] profusely and offer to see them shortly in an effort to regain some of the lost trust.”

24 October 1995
Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director, wrote to the Administrator of the Board.  This letter contains the following two paragraphs:

“I am extremely concerned about the way Brenda has behaved in this case, which has totally undermined me on several occasions.  The creditability of Families for Children with Mr and Mrs [****] is low to say the least, and they are understandably, feeling very angry.

I think it is a very sad situation for all concerned.  However, I welcome the opportunity for the case to be considered through a formal process.”

24 October 1995
The adoptive parents wrote to Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director, at the Board.  Their letter contained the following paragraphs:

“Having now had the opportunity to reflect on the events of yesterday, in a calmer state of mind, we feel that the situation is sufficiently serious that we should write directly to you.

It is still difficult to accept that the events we witnessed really took place.  We understood that this was essentially to be a social event where it was already agreed that the handover / goodbye would be conducted in our presence and that of Nick, Brenda, Jenny and the children, and that this had been clearly communicated to all concerned.  Yet within minutes an unseemly squabble had developed where we felt it was necessary to remove the children shortly followed by ourselves.

When asked to give thought as to how the changeover was to be communicated to the children, it then took a further 45 minutes for a proposed statement to be produced and when [****] re-entered the kitchen it was immediately evident that the situation had not been resolved.  A further request was strongly made that this should be rectified and on departure at [****]’s initiative a telephone call was made to yourself seeking guidance for your staff.

The proposed statement was read to [****] by Nick, on our driveway, and although he was unhappy with part in an effort to bring this lamentable episode to a conclusion it was agreed, by all ‘professionals’ that it should be read to the children.  In the event the text was not kept to and was even disputed by Brenda, whereupon we requested that the meeting should be terminated.

We are at a loss to understand how, given over 5 weeks to prepare, two staff from your Agency appeared unaware of the basic structure to this meeting, and gave the outward appearance of little, if any, shared knowledge.  Not so much a case of left and right hands not knowing what they are doing but of being on different bodies.  Your comments are invited.

We are extremely concerned that, while departing, it was recommended by one member of your staff and effectively confirmed by the other that we should take legal advice.  It is our belief that you should principally be acting on our behalf to support and guide us through the proposed adoption.  In this light may we please ask you to seek the advice of your own Legal Department and to advise us in writing why, at this stage, legal advice is necessary, what this relates to (Section 20 was mentioned), what impact this may have on the placement / adoption of the children by ourselves, whether it is a matter that would be pursued by yourselves or Social Services and any other relevant information.

Given what has transpired in the last 24 hours, it is a little difficult to see how we now move forward.  Our feeling is that your Agency is ‘treading water’ and it is very difficult to visualise that the position for the children will have altered by the next revision meeting now due in under 6 weeks.  Should a postponement be sought?  Clearly we all need to start papering over the cracks, but it must be said that from our view at present there appears more cracks than wall.

You have kindly offered to meet with us and if you feel this would be helpful we shall be pleased to see you, but equally would not wish to drag you up to North Devon merely to replay the past.

Finally given that this meeting was promoted as a social occasion, one can only surmise on your office Christmas party – it must be some event!”

27 October 1995 
Jenny Deakin wrote to Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director, asking for a copy of the Board’s Complaints Procedure stating that she would like to take the matter further having regard to Mrs Hedden’s behaviour at the meeting on 23 October and also in respect of her general management of the case.

November 1995
Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director, prepared a confidential report.  This contained the following statements:

“The case for consideration concerns Mr and Mrs [****] who are adopters approved by Families for Children Adoption Agency.  Mrs Hedden was the Social Worker who assessed Mr and Mrs [****] and presented them to the Agency’s Adoption Panel.  [****] and [****] went to live with Mr and Mrs [****] on 22nd August 1994.  These children were in the care of Devon County Council and the placement responsibility continues with that Agency until an Adoption Order has been made.  No adoption application has been lodged with the Court yet.

The children, therefore, come under the Arrangements for Placement of Children (General) Regulations 1991.  Devon County Council Social Services has a duty to arrange regular reviews which must consider:-

(a)  Progress of placement.

(b)  Timing of Application in Court.

(c)  Contact with birth families and others.

(d)  Ongoing support after an Adoption Order.

The role of the Families for Children Social Worker is to continue to support the prospective adopters and to work closely with the placing Agency to ensure the best possible outcome for the adopters and the children.

During the early stages of the case, in addition to her support role to Mr and Mrs [****] Mrs Hedden was asked to undertake some individual sessions with [****].  In one of the sessions Mrs Hedden said that [****] expressed a desire to have face-to-face contact with her birth mother.  This issue has not been lost or ignored by Devon Social Services or Families for Children and the issue of contact will be discussed at each Review.  (Mr and Mrs [****] are supportive of, and the children have, contact with their maternal grandmother).

The difference between Mrs Hedden and the two Agencies is that she believes Mr and Mrs [****] should be confronted and challenged to accept this contact between [****] and her birth mother.  Devon Social Services and Families for Children believe Mrs Hedden’s role should have been to support and enable the adopters to look at developing any contact in a positive way for the children.

The last Review

The last Review Mrs Hedden attended was held on September 14th 1995.  The purpose of Mrs Hedden’s attendance at this Review was to ensure that her comments about the case could be made and recorded.  Mrs Hedden chose not to bring up the issue she is said to be concerned about (ie [****]’s expressed wish to have face-to-face contact with her birth mother).  When I asked her about her reasons for this (telephone conversation 16.10.95).  Mrs Hedden said that she had not spoken up at the Review as she did not wish to alter the dynamics of the meeting and that she had been too busy making notes on what everyone else was saying.  This is of great concern to me as she was not formally minuting the meeting.  Mrs Hedden says that her concerns are for the children’s wishes – namely [****]’s desire for contact, to be heard.  However, Mrs Hedden did not use the appropriate opportunity of the Review to discuss this and have her views recorded.  Instead Mrs Hedden seemed to be spending her time trying to ‘catch out’ the other professionals present – as subsequent letters from her are full of comments about people’s behaviour at the meeting.  (Letters dated 16th and 17th October 1995).

At the end of the Review Mr [****] produced a response to a report written sometime previously by Mrs Hedden.  When he handed the report to Mrs Hedden they became involved in a heated confrontational debate.  It was necessary for Mr Goodwin and Mr Hepworth to escort Mrs Hedden out of the house.”

As to the letter sent by Mrs Hedden (October 2nd/9th) to Mr Jarvis, the Practice Supervisor of Devon Social Services.  This report states:

“On October 16th, during a telephone conversation I asked Mrs Hedden why she had sent the letter without my authority.  Mrs Hedden said that she had not let me see the letter first as I would have altered it, I assured her that this was true and that I was most unhappy about her actions.  Mrs Hedden wrote this letter knowing that it was totally against her own Agency’s plan.  The letter seemed to be an expression of her own personal feelings bearing no relation to the decisions agreed by Devon Social Services and Families for Children.

CONCLUSION

Everyone involved is concerned that the children and Mr and Mrs [****] receive the best possible support and this does not exclude the possibility of [****] having contact with her birth mother.  Indeed, I understand that there has been some indirect contact between [****]’s birth mother and [****] via the social worker in the form of an exchange of letters.  However Mrs Hedden’s disruptive influence has severely affected the credibility of the Agency.  She has not been able to accept the decision to remove her from the case with professional dignity and her continued disruption can only be seen to have caused more problems for the family for whom she claims to be concerned.

Any prospective adopters taking children with special needs face a very great change to their lives and feel vulnerable about their ability to cope with the task and apprehensive about the decision making of the Agencies involved and the Courts.  Undermining prospective adopters at this crucial time is totally unacceptable.  The work Mr Goodwin is now undertaking with Mr and Mrs [****] as a matter of priority, is to try and establish some degree of credibility and trust between them and the Families for Children Adoption Agency.  Unless some progress here is achieved, the Agency’s role in respect of this placement is going to be very difficult to fulfil which will, in turn, be to the inevitable detriment to Mr and Mrs [****] and the children.”

3 November 1995
Mrs Hedden made a complaint to the Devon Social Services.  In it she states that:

“As a qualifying individual, on behalf of the child also as a qualifying individual I FORMALLY ASK THAT THE CHILD’S WISHES ARE PROPERLY RESPECTED within the known constraints of the birth mother’s capability.”

24 November 1995
Devon County Council write to Mrs Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director of the Board informing her that, as no doubt she was aware, they had received a complaint from Families for Children (the Boards) submitted by Mrs Hedden on behalf of the child.

28 November 1995
Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director, replied saying the matter was being looked at internally and that she would contact the Devon County Council again following the results of the internal investigation.

29 November 1995
Devon County Council wrote to Mrs Hedden stating as follows:

“As you are aware, the concerns you raised arose from your position within Families for Children and, as such, the complaint is made on behalf of that organisation.  I have heard from Caroline Davis, Adoption Director, that Families for Children is carrying out its own investigation into your concerns.  Therefore, I shall not be making a decision about how to proceed until we have been contacted by Mrs Davis when she has completed her enquiries.”

5 December 1995
There is a note of a discussion between Mr Goodwin and Jenny Deakin at her office.  It records the following:

“In summary, Jenny feeling more positive about placement, particularly in relation to the children who she is confident see their future there and are making some good attachments.  Jenny feels [****] in particular, has become more confident and relaxed in her parenting role whilst retaining a structured home life for the children.  Jenny feels [****] and [****] need to feel confident about our Agency’s view of them.  Jenny feels [****] and [****] have ‘grown’ and changed as time has gone on.

The sessions with Pam Durrant are very much in the form of trying to ‘empower’ [***] Jenny will be restarting direct work again in the New Year with [****] and [****] now wanting to include [****] in this.

Jenny feels that the position re face to face contact between [****] and [****] remains as it was stated on the original plans for the children (Form E), and that [****] was most unlikely to be able to commit herself to a contact.  Jenny does not rule it out for ever.  There is indirect contact in the form of the occasional letters, cards etc although [****] is not consistent.  [****] and [****] are entirely open and accepting of this and have not wanted to limit things just to Birthdays / Christmas etc.  Contact with maternal grandmother is 3 times per year which [***] and [****] support and participate in.

8 December 1995
The proposed adoptive parents made a complaint to the Board under the heading “What do you think the Agency did wrong or failed to do?” the proposed adoptive parents state as follows:

“For some time we have been uneasy with the support provided by the Agency, which has been voiced.  In particular, as the result of a visit and subsequent telephone conversation, the impression was given that unless we felt able to agree regular, monthly was implied, visits between the children – particularly for [****] – and their natural mother then Social Services would review the placement of the children with ourselves.  At the outset we were not party to these discussions which clearly would have had a major impact.

Subsequently the decision was made by the Agency to change worker, of which we were aware and approved.  We are, however, very unhappy with the way this was executed.  Initially we were given to understand that it would take place at the quarterly review meeting on September 14th, and made appropriate arrangements.  In the event at that meeting it was decided that this was inappropriate and fresh arrangements were made for October 23rd (some five weeks later).  On that date a series of distasteful and distressing events took place in our home, which we have already communicated to the Agency, both at the time and subsequently on the telephone, and in our letter of 24th October 1995.”

18 December 1995 
Jenny Deakin, the Social Worker with the local authority also made a complaint to the Board under the heading “What do you think the Agency did wrong or failed to do?” she stated:

“My concerns have been solely involved with the way in which the Agency’s representative Ms Brenda Heddon dealt with the {**** **** ****) adoption placement.”

22 December 1995
Mr Harbour, the Administrator of the Board wrote to Mrs Hedden in the following terms:

“This letter is merely to record confirmation of the two main items of our discussion at our meeting yesterday evening.

(i)  Mr Joe Stanton has been appointed as an Independent Investigative Person to investigate the official complaint against the Agency, received from Mr and Mrs [****] [the proposed adoptive parents].

(ii)  You agreed to let me have your outworkers file regarding the above placement by 2 January 1996.

With very best wishes for Christmas and the New Year.”

29 December 1995
Mrs Hedden wrote to a Mrs Hilary Foord at the Social Services Department.  This letter contains the following paragraphs:

“The child is accommodated under Section 20 of the Children Act 1989.  She has been in an adoptive placement since August 1994 with her younger half-brother aged 5 years.  There is agreement at least between the two Agencies that the placement is not yet ready to move on to a formal adoption application.  The prospective adoptive parents would have preferred to apply to adopt the children earlier this year.

Since I submitted the formal complaint on behalf of the child initially in October 1995 the social worker for the child, referred to as the Care Manager, has responded with a brief complaint about myself, understandably.  This was followed by the prospective adoptive parents submitting a complaint against this Agency which is to be independently investigated.  Fortunately the officer chosen is a G.A.L. so will be aware of the legal implications behind the source of all the disruption:  the child’s expressed wish to meet with her birth mother.”

29 December 1995
Mrs Hedden wrote to Mr Harbour, the Administrator of the Board.  That letter contained the following statement:

“I confirm the two items listed in your letter were discussed, but the matter which took precedence was the child’s needs and rights in law within the placement.”

12 January 1996
Mrs Foord (of the Social Services Inspectorate replied to Mrs Hedden.  She said this:

“Thank you for your letter and enclosed correspondence relating to your concerns about the child [****] and her request for face to face contact with her birth mother.

The papers have been passed to my policy colleague Mr C Johns in this office.  He will consider what role, if any, SSI has in this matter and advise you accordingly.  I will send a copy of this letter to Caroline Davis for her information.”

15 January 1996
There was a telephone conversation between Mr Harbour and Mrs Foord and Mr Harbour’s note of that conversation is as follows:

“She will get Mr Johns to contact RJH.  Although she could not speak for him she felt SSI did not have a role to play other than:

(i)  that Devon County Council responded to Brenda’s complaint in a responsible manner

(ii)  that the Agency followed up the Adopter’s complaint in a proper manner.”

16 January 1996
Mr Stanton (the Investigator) wrote to Mr Harbour (the Administrator of the Board) in the following terms:

“Further to my discussion with you on Thursday the 11th instant, I put before you my considerations regarding the above matter.

(i)  That Mrs Heddon be suspended on full pay on the grounds that she has put herself outside the management control of your organisation.

(ii)  That the suspension continues until the whole issue of investigation has been considered by the Board.

The evidence to support my view is as follows:

(a)  That without consultation and without the support of the Agency Management Mrs Heddon has independently made complaints to the Social Services Inspectorate, Bristol, and to the Director of Social Services on a child care matter within the purvue of the Devon Social Services.

(b)  That the complaints referred to above have been made by Mrs Heddon on the Agency headed paper, which could give the impression that the complaints had been made with the authoritative support of the Agency.

(c)  That Mrs Hedden has recorded on file that she intends to independently retain an involvement with the placed children and the family, despite the Agency having removed her from having any further involvement.

(iii)  Another issue is that although the matter has yet to be enquired into further, it does seem to be that Mrs Hedden’s behaviour in the prospective adopters home on the 23.10.95 was untoward professionally.

I further suggest that in the light of the difficulties apparent in the complaint of Mr and Mrs [****], that as a preventative step, Mrs Hedden’s current case load is examined.

I intend to complete the enquiry by the 19th January.  However, my report will be delayed as a consequence of the intervening Christmas and New Year holiday period, and the difficulties encountered in making appointments to interview the professional people involved in the case.

I intend to submit my report in two stages.  The first will be in answer to the complaint by Mr and Mrs [****] and the second regarding issues relating to Mrs Hedden’s professional practice.

My report will be submitted without undue delay, and hopefully within the next seven days.  Mr and Mrs [****] have been made aware of this delay and are satisfied as to the reasons for this.”

23 January 1996
The Venerable A.F. Tremlett, the Chairman of the Board wrote to Mrs Hedden.  This letter contained the following paragraphs:

“I write following your conversation with Mr Harbour and subsequent refusal to meet me on either Wednesday 24 January or Tuesday 30 January to discuss the above matter.

In the circumstances I have to inform you that with immediate effect you will be suspended on full pay pending the completion of the Board’s investigation into the complaint.”

24 January 1996
Mrs Hedden replied.  In that letter she says:

“I have, in fact, not refused to see you.  I made it clear to the Administrator that I would be pleased to see you when I had received in writing the grounds of the alleged Gross Misconduct.  I first requested this information in my letter to the Administrator dated November 14 1995, a copy of which I enclose.  I repeated my request, in person to the Administrator on December 21 1995 and in the two telephone discussions within this last week.  I am still at a loss to know in what way I have been guilty of Gross Misconduct.

My concerns therefore throughout the difficulties are:

(1)  The expressed wishes and emotional needs of the child in the short and long term and her rights under the Children Act 1989.

(2)  To ensure the Agency adheres to its policy, confirmed in writing and circulated on November 1 1995.

(3)  To uphold the reputation of the Board in maintaining Agency policy and statute law.”

End of January 1996
Mr Stanton’s (the Investigators) report is completed. His report was in two parts.  The second part directly concerned the issue as to whether Mrs Hedden was beyond managerial control within the Board.  The first part related to the complaint concerning the conduct of the Board, through its officers and employees, one of whom was Mrs Hedden, concerning the placement of the children with the proposed adopters.  Mr Stanton’s report is critical of the conduct of Mrs Hedden and indeed is critical of the conduct of others employed by the Board.  Mrs Hedden does not accept Mr Stanton’s findings and rejects his criticisms of her. In the second part of his report Mr Stanton states as follows:

“Mrs Hedden has put herself outside the control of the agency management by taking the following actions.  

(i) She has recorded on the file on two occasions on October 1995 that although she is removed from any further involvement with this family, she will independently continue to be involved.  Her purpose is to pursue the wishes and feelings of X for direct contact with her mother.  She appears to have a tenacity for this issue and is likely to continue until X’s wishes and feelings are met.

(ii) Without consultation or permission or approval from the Agency, Mrs Hedden has written a complaint to the Social Service Inspectorate in Bristol; and to the Director of Devon Social Services.  Her complaint alleges that X’s wishes and feelings for direct contact with her mother are being suppressed.

(iii) The complaints mentioned above are written on the Agency’s headed paper. This gives the impression that the Agency has the knowledge and thereby gives Mrs Hedden the authority to make the complaint.

(iv) Mrs Hedden also telephoned the Social Services Inspectorate  in Bristol whereby, she comes to the assumption that she has the legal responsibility to advocate on behalf of this child.  

It has to be realised that Mrs Hedden does not have any legal responsibility for these children.  It seems that she could be acting outside the law in relation to the Adoption Act and the related Children’s Act 1989. 
Mr Stanton therefore made an assertion as to the law with which Mrs Hedden does not, and did not, agree. 
10 February 1996
The Venerable A F Tremlett, the Chairman of the Board writes to Mrs Hedden.  That letter contains the following paragraphs:

“Under the provisions of para 8 of the ‘Gross Misconduct’ section of the Disciplinary Procedures, you have the opportunity to see me, accompanied by a friend or colleague if you wish, to enable you to offer explanation of allegations resulting from the report, namely:

that you put yourself outside the control of the Agency Management by taking the following actions:

(i)  you have recorded on file that, although you are removed from further involvement with the [****] family, you will continue independently to be involved

(ii)  without consultation, permission or approval of the Agency, you have complained in writing to the Social Services Inspectorate and to the Director of Devon Social Services

(iii)  your personal complaints in (ii) have been written on the Agency’s headed paper, thereby giving the impression that they have the authority of Families for Children

The Agency has certain concerns arising from the report, to which I would also like you to respond:

(a)  that, as an employee of the Agency, you appear to have assumed a role and concern for the child, [****] in relation to contact with her birth mother (as instanced by your letter to me dated 24 January 1996), which is properly the responsibility of the Local Authority

(b)  that your response to decisions of the Local Authority and of the Agency’s Adoption Director may have affected adversely the reputation of the Board.”

15 February 1996
Mrs Hedden replies to the Venerable A F Tremlett, the Chairman, stating that she does not believe that any of the allegations set out in his letter can be substantiated and that she would like to send a written reply before meeting him.

21 February 1996
A Gwen James of “A Voice for the Child in Care” wrote to the Venerable A F Tremlett, the Chairman.  That letter contains the following statements:

“Mrs Hedden does not believe that the child’s wishes have been properly dealt with by the Social Services Department.  I cannot understand their position.  It is accepted as good childcare practice, and is enshrined in the 1989 Children Act, that the bond between children and their natural parents is a very important one and should not be severed unless absolutely necessary.

I am sure Mrs Hedden is right to want to continue to be concerned about this child and I do hope that your society will give her the necessary backing rather than seeking to dismiss her.  I am surprised that her conduct can be characterised as ‘gross misconduct’ by your Board.”

28 February 1996
Mrs Hedden wrote to the Venerable A F Tremlett, the Chairman.  This letter contains the following statement:

“I remain very worried that I and the Exeter Diocesan Board each carries a duty to safeguard the interests and welfare of this child and that we have so far failed her.  I also believe and am advised by social work and legal experts that we are failing in our duty in the way in which we have so far conducted this case.”

Early March 1996
In a general statement prepared by Mrs Hedden to present to the Chairman before the Disciplinary meeting Mrs Hedden makes the following points:

“In view of the child’s legal status the child’s expressed wish to see her birth mother was extremely important.  It was discussed at a Statutory Review on 16 May 1995.  The minutes of that meeting were not made available until September, by which time I had been taken off the case.  This late production is regrettable, particularly as I believe that the minutes failed to record accurately this crucial issue.

On 4 November I made a formal complaint under the Children Act to the Director of Social Services for Devon.

On 28 November I had a supervision session with my Manager.  She did not raise my complaint.  However I did.  I told her what happened at the meeting.  She did not tell me that I should not have used Families for Children notepaper for my dealings with Social Services.

On 5 December I received the Social Services’ Director’s refusal to accept my complaint (dated 29 November) as its subject matter was being dealt with within my agency.  This was wholly unacceptable and in practice untrue.

I therefore telephoned my Manager on 5 December and had a further discussion with her in which I informed her that I intended to take up the child’s right formally with the Social Services Inspectorate in view of the decision of Social Services not to process my complaint.  Her response was that she thought that the child should see her birth mother, but that we as an agency should leave this to Social Services to deal with.  I responded that it had been eight months since the child had first raised this issue and that nothing had yet happened.  I asked her if she could give me an assurance in writing that she would pursue the issue through the agency.  She declined.  I told her that in those circumstances I would have to notify the Social Services Inspectorate.  She did not instruct me not to do this or raise any further criticism of my decision.  I am aware that the Social Services Inspectorate spoke to her on the telephone about this issue the same day.

Now that I have the full file I can see that there are many issues in it where I would like to offer a reply to criticism of my work, either expressed or implied.  However I do not think that this would be constructive at this stage, nor is it necessary to do so in order to deal with the substantive issues levelled at me by the letter of 10 February 1996.  I believe that I could provide answers to the majority of those issues; and in others to question the judgments made.  I do not believe that I am inappropriately confrontational.  I do consider that the issue of the child’s right to see the birth mother was important and should have been pursued and that I was correct in pressing this issue in a constructive way, both with the prospective adopting family and with the Social Services Department who did not appear to recognise the seriousness of the issue.

I have been surprised by the unreasonable hostility which my stand over the legal rights of this child has evoked and the mass of papers which were presented to me recently seemed surprising in their unison although very different interests are being met by my suspension and allegation of Gross Misconduct.  I do not recognise the complaints and comments which discredit and denigrate my character and practice.  If the allegations were true (and I will refute them with substantive detail), then it would have been grossly irresponsible of my colleagues and the management to have allowed me to practice at all.  I ask, before any decision about my employment is made, that my personal file is considered.  I am not an over-confrontational practitioner;  I do accept advice and instruction from my Manager; I have at all times acted in the best interests of the child involved in this case; but in so doing have upheld good social work practice and what I believe to be the good name of our Agency.”

6 March 1996
A disciplinary meeting was held.  That was attended by the Venerable A F Tremlett, the Chairman, Mr Harbour, the Administrator, Mr Moore, the Solicitor for the Board, Mrs Hedden, Mr T Griffin, a Solicitor and friend of Mrs Hedden and a Mrs Phillips, the Minutes Secretary.

7 March 1996
Caroline Davis, the Adoption Director, wrote to the Venerable A F Tremlett, the Chairman.  This letter contains the following paragraph:

“I understand that you have agreed to meet again with Brenda and someone from Voice for the Child in Care.  In my opinion this is totally inappropriate.  The fact that Brenda has yet again gone behind the back of the Agency and discussed this case with an external body alarms me.  The children concerned are in the care of Devon Social Services and this Agency has no right to discuss them without the approval of Andrew Williamson.  I imagine that he will also be concerned that this Agency is prepared to do this on the insistence of a member of staff who is already suspended over her behaviour in the same case.”

20 March 1996
A second disciplinary meeting was held attended by the same people.  The minutes of that meeting contain the following paragraphs:

“The Chairman asked Mrs Hedden the following question  ‘Clearly you have very strong feelings about the issue of the child having contact with her birth mother.  You are no longer on that particular case.  You know now that the Agency’s view is that we do not disagree with the decisions taken to date by the Local Authority.  In the light of you now knowing the Agency (Mrs Davis and Mr Goodwin) did not disagree with the Local Authority’s position, will you now cease the stand you are taking on this issue?’.

Mrs Hedden replied that in answer she would need reassurance that he and the Agency would allow Mrs James ‘Voice for the Child in Care’ the opportunity of presenting her concerns about this particular child’s status and her considerations and she knows nothing of the circumstances.  On the basis of the little bit of information she has so far she is prepared to come down from London to speak about it.  That would at least give the child another chance.  Mrs Hedden said she cannot afford £10,000 to institute a judicial review.  She has been advised that that is what it would cost.

The Chairman said that he had already said he was happy to discuss this with Mrs James.  There is no assurance that can be given.

Mrs Hedden said that she would need to be sure that this child could live out her childhood bearing in mind she had worked with the child for 9 months.  The [****] had asked her to see the child on each occasion she visited.  She would need assurance that the child could bear to go through her life without having face-to-face contact with her mother, not just a letter.  There is a deep longing to see the person who was the centre of her life.  To date no one has asked the child independently.  The only person who is qualified to do so would be the educational psychologist.  Mrs Hedden said she would need reassurance and she would have to give it some thought as to how she could live with her conscience but she was not going to go just for peace of mind.  The job is not just about being paid at the end of the month.  There is no one to speak up for the child.”

23 March 1996
The Venerable A F Tremlett, as Chairman of the Disciplinary Meeting sent his report to the Standing Committee.  That report contains the following statement:

“At the close of the second hearing on 20 March 1996, I put a question to Mrs Hedden in these terms:

knowing now that the Agency does not disagree with the decision of Devon County Council in the matter of [****]’s contact with her birth mother, and knowing Mrs Davis’s decision that it should be left with the Local Authority, would she now undertake to drop the matter?.  

She replied that she would need to be convinced that the child could live out a fulfilled and happy childhood, and that assurance would be required.  I take it her answer amounted to ‘no’.

I conclude:

that Mrs Hedden will find it extremely difficult to submit to the authority of the Adoption Director on this issue."

2 April 1996
Mr Harbour wrote on behalf of the Board to Mrs Hedden telling her that the Standing Committee had had an opportunity to consider the outcome of the disciplinary hearings and enclosing a copy of the report of Archdeacon Tremlett, the Chairman.  This letter contained the following paragraphs:

“It is right that you should know that the Standing Committee in considering the appropriate sanction has necessarily taken into account the question of whether, from the Agency’s point of view, it would be appropriate to continue to employ you in such a sensitive role in the light of the fact, as the Standing Committee sees it, you have acted and are likely to continue to act outside the control of the Agency’s management.

The Standing Committee, having reviewed all the evidence, is extremely concerned that your continued employment by the Agency would risk endangering the families which may be assigned to you with the further risk of damage to the Agency’s own reputation.”

10 April 1996
There was a meeting of the Special Standing Committee.  Those present were the Venerable A F Tremlett, Reverend G D Cryer, Mr D S Collier and Mr C T Morley-Smith and the following were in attendance:  Mr Moore, the Solicitor for the Board, Mr Harbour, the Administrator, Mrs Phillips, the Minutes Secretary, Mrs Hedden and Mr Griffin, a Solicitor and Friend of Mrs Hedden.


After about 40 minutes there was a short adjournment and after it the minutes record the following:

“The Chairman explained to Mrs Hedden that other members of the meeting may wish to join in the discussion.  He said that the immediate response of the Committee is that it was not wanting prima facie to disagree with a great deal that has been said so far.  The issue for the Committee is the matter of how one pursues one’s own conviction about a subject and how, as an employee, one is employed to pursue this conviction which Mrs Hedden said she feels as a ‘matter of duty and conscience’.  He said they had noted that her first duty as a citizen is to statute law.  He said she had not said what she regards her duties are as an employee.  The Committee is concerned about the whole issue of Mrs Hedden remaining in the control of the Agency, having the convictions that she does, and how that would be compatible with continuing employment.  Management has to take decisions.  Mrs Hedden had recorded that she knew her manager would not have encouraged her to write the letters that she did.  The Committee is also concerned with the evidence before it that Mrs Hedden believed that she could act independently of the Agency and indeed that she must act independently of the Agency in pursuing matters of her conscience.  The Committee is concerned for the future that she would continue to feel that these are matters that she must pursue independently of the Agency.  What we have seen so far is a determination to pursue these things quite clearly not, for example, seeking the will of this body.  There was no sense that the Board, as a body, was a co-operative venture on which she could have a say.

Mrs Hedden replied that she tried.  First of all she has not enjoyed taking the stand that she had to take.  She has not enjoyed any of this.  But, she would have to live her life knowing that the child is in a state of grief when we have a commitment to that child, to look after her welfare.  She had to live with that child’s grief which, those who have been involved in social work have fought long and hard for child’s rights that they shouldn’t have to suffer that grief.  She would love to work with the Agency.

Mrs Hedden said that she appreciates that all this must be awful for the Board and awful for everybody.  She need not now be involved in this child’s interests as the Board has now been made fully aware of it.

Mr Griffin said that we are discussing the way forward and whether the Board could continue to employ Mrs Hedden.  She would hope that there might be some body to which she might report if it could be arranged.  She could give an undertaking to drop the issue.  At some stage the child in question would come up for adoption.  If it comes to that Mrs Hedden would like to be able to write a letter to the Court about her concerns and it would then be up to the Court to decide whether to appoint a Guardian Ad Litem.  If the Board could see its way to allowing her to write a letter Mrs Hedden would undertake to drop the issue and not pursue it with any other Agency.  Such a letter would give her an opportunity to express her concern.  Mr James supports that concern in his report.

The Chairman said that we would need to consider that.  The Committee’s concern is the whole issue of endangering the welfare of families in the future, which it would need to consider, in view of the fact that Mrs Hedden was removed from the case in July 1995.  If it was followed up by a letter in Court it would revive some of the issues again.  The Chairman also wanted to say that he thought the issue of grief to which Mrs Hedden refers is a matter of her opinion.  She has not had contact with this child for 5/6 months.  She was not qualified to comment on that.  Other people are now dealing with it.

Mrs Hedden said that the ethos of the Children Act is that the grief does not go away.  The Chairman replied that the issue of the contact is not a matter of fact, it is also a matter of timing.  It has already been discussed whose responsibility it is to decide the timing of that.  It is something the Agency needs to consider.

Mr Morley-Smith referred to Mrs James’ Report.  At the end of the second paragraph on page 2 he said the word independently should appear in the last sentence.  He said it leaves us very uncertain as to what may happen in the future.

10 April 1996
Mr James’ report referred to by Mr Morley-Smith is dated 1 April 1996 and was available at the meeting held on 10 April 1996.  The paragraph referred to by Mr Morley-Smith is in the following terms:

“Generally, the LA and the Voluntary Agency(and their workers) will agree on what is in the best interests of a particular child placed for adoption.  Where workers from respective agencies disagree, I would expect the managers of the respective agencies to attempt to resolve the dispute.  Where the managerial resolution or compromise reached fails to satisfy a particular worker, I believe that that worker has a higher responsibility towards the child than to her agency.  So far as I know, however, the matter has never been tested by judicial review.  In a slightly different context, issues of this nature – where a practitioner has a duty to a child over and above the actions of her agency manager – were tackled in the (1974) official enquiry into the death of Maria Colwell.  In this case a head teacher had decided not to pass concerns about child abuse on to the SSD despite the insistence of the classroom teacher (paras 173-175).  The report confirms the need for practitioners to operate independently on their own professional judgment and not just rely on (or submit to) their managers.

10 April 1996
The Venerable A F Tremlett, the Chairman, wrote to Mrs Hedden.  That letter contained the following paragraph:

“I write to confirm what was said to you at the close of our meeting today.

The Board’s Standing Committee has considered your record and noted the compromise which has been suggested on your behalf.  However, we continue to believe that, without the guarantee you seek (which we cannot possibly provide), you will continue to be prepared to operate independently of the Agency and your management, in respect of this family and any others which may be assigned to you.  Further, we have considerable concern about your ability to co-operate with your line manager.

Taking into account the finding of gross misconduct and the concerns set out in the Administrator’s letter of 2 April 1996, which have not in any way been removed, we have no alternative but to terminate your employment.

However, taking into account your record, we are prepared to terminate it with notice:  you will be paid in lieu of notice, so that your employment will cease with effect from today.”

16 May 1996
Mrs Heddon writes to Mr Harbour, the Administrator, in response to the Venerable A F Tremlett’s letter of 10 April and also comments on his report to the Standing Committee.  This letter contains the following comments:

“The Chairman’s Conclusion and its omissions

Paragraph 4.  Both in this paragraph and in the Chairman’s letter written on April 10 1996 I am again misquoted.  I did not seek an impossible ‘guarantee’ that the child would have a fulfilled and happy childhood.  

In fact, I sought assurance in ways which were clearly most practicable; submitting proposals for the Board’s consideration.  If implemented, they would have resolved both the child care and employment issues and the Board’s duty of care.  These were:

1)If the Agency was now instructing me that my representations had to cease, having been told on March 20 1996 for the first time that my Manager had now made a decision about the issue, I asked that proper consideration should be given to assessing the effect on the child living out the rest of her childhood reasonably fulfilled and happy without actual contact with her mother.  I asked that there should be a proper, ie clinical assessment, which is the child’s right by law.  I submitted it could be the Educational Psychologist who already knew the child and undertook the last assessment in 1994.  

2)I also asked that the Agency should hear the informed opinion of the Director for A Voice for the Child in Care.  This would have given the child a second chance and ensured the Agency had complied with its primary responsibility.

3)My third conciliatory submission was put before the Standing Committee on April 10 1996 (referred to as the compromise on my behalf).  It was the suggestion that at the time of the adoption application to the Court, a brief statement about the child’s expressed wish for contact could be submitted (most appropriately with the Schedule II report) which would have been approved by my Manager.  This proposal was given to us by the Child Care and Social Policy Consultant of the Department of Health, who held special responsibility for the Independent Agencies and for the implementation of the Children Act 1989.

The Board chose to disregard this proposal also.”

PART B

This is referred to in paragraphs 26, 27 and 37 of the judgment.

1.
Sections 17, 22, 26, 105, 3 and 1 of the Children Act 1989 provide as follows:

“17(1)  It shall be the general duty of every local authority (in addition to the other duties imposed on them by this Part) -

(a)  to safeguard and promote the welfare of children within their area who are in need; and

(b)  so far as is consistent with that duty, to promote the upbringing of such children by their families,

by providing a range and level of services appropriate to those children’s needs.

(5)  Every local authority - 

(a)  shall facilitate the provision by others (including in particular voluntary organisations) of services which the authority have power to provide by virtue of this section, or section 18, 20, 23 or 24; and 

(b)  may make such arrangements as they see fit for any person to act on their behalf in the provision of any such service.

(10)  For the purposes of this Part a child shall be taken to be in need if - 

(a)  he is unlikely to achieve or maintain, or to have the opportunity of achieving or maintaining, a reasonable standard of health or development without the provision for him of services by a local authority under this Part;

(b)  his health or development is likely to be significantly impaired, or further impaired, without the provision for him of such services; or 

(c)  he is disabled,

and ‘family’, in relation to such a child, includes any person who has parental responsibility for the child and any other person with whom he has been living.

22(1)  In this Act, any reference to a child who is looked after by a local authority is a reference to a child who is -

(a)  in their care; or

(b)  provided with accommodation by the authority in the exercise of any functions (in particular those under this Act) which stand referred to their social services committee under the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970.

(2)  In subsection (1) ‘accommodation’ means accommodation which is provided for a continuous period of more than 24 hours.

(3)  It shall be the duty of a local authority looking after any child - 

(a)  to safeguard and promote his welfare; and

(b)  to make such use of services available for children cared for by their own parents as appears to the authority reasonable in his case.

(4)  Before making any decision with respect of a child whom they are looking after, or proposing to look after, a local authority shall, so far as is reasonably practicable, ascertain the wishes and feelings of -

(a)  the child;

(b)  his parents;

(c)  any person who is not a parent of his but who has parental responsibility for him; and 

(d)  any other person whose wishes and feelings the authority consider to be relevant,

regarding the matter to be decided.

(5)  In making any such decision a local authority shall give due consideration -

(a)  having regard to his age and understanding, to such wishes and feelings of the child as they have been able to ascertain;

(b)  to such wishes and feelings of any person mentioned in subsection (4)(b) to (d) as they have been able to ascertain; and 

(c)  to the child’s religious persuasion, racial origin and cultural and linguistic background.

(6)  If it appears to a local authority that it is necessary, for the purpose of protecting members of the public from serious injury, to exercise their powers with respect to a child whom they are looking after in a manner which may not be consistent with their duties under this section, they may do so.

(7)  If the Secretary of State considers it necessary, for the purpose of protecting members of the public from serious injury, to give directions to a local authority with respect to the exercise of their powers with respect to a child whom they are looking after, he may give such directions to the authority.

(8)  Where any such directions are given to an authority they shall comply with them even though doing so is inconsistent with their duties under this section.

26(1)  The Secretary of State may make regulations requiring the case of each child who is being looked after by a local authority to be reviewed in accordance with the provisions of the regulations.

(2)  The regulations may, in particular, make provision - 

(a)  as to the manner in which each case is to be reviewed;

(b)  as to the considerations to which the local authority are to have regard in reviewing each case;

(c)  as to the time when each case is first to be reviewed and the frequency of subsequent reviews;

(d)  requiring the authority, before conducting any review, to seek the views of -

(i)    the child;

(ii)   his parents;

(iii)  any person who is not a parent of his but who has parental responsibility for him; and

(iv)  any other person whose views the authority consider to be relevant,

including, in particular, the views of those persons in relation to any particular matter which is to be considered in the course of the review;

(e)  requiring the authority to consider, in the case of a child who is in their care, whether an application should be made to discharge the care order;

(f)  requiring the authority to consider, in the case of a child in accommodation provided by the authority, whether the accommodation accords with the requirements of this Part;

(g)  requiring the authority to inform the child, so far as is reasonably practicable, of any steps he may take under this Act;

(h)  requiring the authority to make arrangements, including arrangements with such other bodies providing services as it considers appropriate, to implement any decision which they propose to make in the course, or as a result, of the review;

(i)  requiring the authority to notify details of the result of the review and of any decision taken by them in consequence of the review to -

(i)    the child;

(ii)   his parents;

(iii)  any person who is not a parent of his but who has parental responsibility for him; and 

(iv)  any other person whom they consider ought to be notified;

(j)  requiring the authority to monitor the arrangements which they have made with a view to ensuring that they comply with the regulations.

(3) Every local authority shall establish a procedure for considering any representations (including any complaint) made to them by -

(a)  any child who is being looked after by them or who is not being looked after by them but is in need;

(b)  a parent of his;

(c)  any person who is not a parent of his but who has parental responsibility for him;

(d)  any local authority foster parent;

(e)  such other person as the authority consider has a sufficient interest in the child’s welfare to warrant his representations being considered by them,

about the discharge by the authority of any of their functions under this Part in relation to the child.

(4)  The procedure shall ensure that at least one person who is not a member or officer of the authority takes part in - 

(a)  the consideration; and 

(b)  any discussions which are held by the authority about the action (if any) to be taken in relation to the child in the light of the consideration.

(5)  In carrying out any consideration of representations under this section a local authority shall comply with any regulations made by the Secretary of State for the purposes of regulating the procedure to be followed.

(6)  The Secretary of State may make regulations requiring local authorities to monitor the arrangements that they have made with a view to ensuring that they comply with any regulations made for the purposes of subsection (5).

(7)  Where any representation has been considered under the procedure established by a local authority under this section, the authority shall -

(a)  have due regard to the findings of those considering the representation; and

(b)  take such steps as are reasonably practicable to notify (in writing) -

(i)    the person making the representation;

(ii)   the child (if the authority consider that he has sufficient understanding); and

(iii)  such other persons (if any) as appear to the authority to be likely to be affected,

of the authority’s decision in the matter and their reasons for taking that decision and of any action which they have taken, or propose to take.

105(1)  In this Act –

‘adoption agency’ means a body which may be referred to as an adoption agency by virtue of section 1 of the Adoption Act 1976;

‘care order’ has the meaning given by section 31(11) and also includes any order which by or under any enactment has the effect of, or is deemed to be, a care order for the purposes of this Act; and any reference to a child who is in the care of an authority is a reference to a child who is in their care by virtue of a care order.

‘parental responsibility’ has the meaning given in section 3;

‘voluntary organisation’ means a body (other than a public or local authority) whose activities are not carried on for profit.

(4)  References in this Act to a child who is looked after by a local authority have the same meaning as they have (by virtue of section 22) in Part III.

(5)  References in this Act to accommodation provided by or on behalf of a local authority are references to accommodation so provided in the exercise of functions which stand referred to the social services committee of that or any other local authority under the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970.

3(1)  In this Act ‘parental responsibility’ means all the rights, duties, powers, responsibilities and authority which by law a parent of a child has in relation to the child and his property.

1(1)  When a court determines any question with respect to -

(a)  the upbringing of a child; or

(b)  the administration of a child’s property or the application of any income arising from it,

the child’s welfare shall be the court’s paramount consideration.

(2)  In any proceedings in which any question with respect to the upbringing of a child arises, the court shall have regard to the general principle that any delay in determining the question is likely to prejudice the welfare of the child.

(3)  In the circumstances mentioned in subsection (4), a court shall have regard in particular to -

(a)  the ascertainable wishes and feelings of the child concerned (considered in the light of his age and understanding);

(b)  his physical, emotional and educational needs;

(c)  the likely effect on him of any change in his circumstances;

(d)  his age, sex, background and any characteristics of his which the court considers relevant;

(e)  any harm which he has suffered or is at risk of suffering;

(f)  how capable each of his parents, and any other person in relation to whom the court considers the question to be relevant, is of meeting his needs;

(g)  the range of powers available to the court under this Act in the proceedings in question.

(4)  The circumstances are that – 

(a)  the court is considering whether to make, vary or discharge a section 8 order, and the making, variation or discharge of the order is opposed by any party to the proceedings; or

(b)  the court is considering whether to make, vary or discharge an order under Part IV.

(5)  Where a court is considering whether or not to make one or more orders under this Act with respect to a child, it shall not make the order or any of the orders unless it considers that doing so would be better for the child than making no order at all.”
2
Sections 1, 6, 12, 16, 39 and 72 of the Adoption Act 1976 provide as follows:

“1(1)  It is the duty of every local authority to establish and maintain within their area a service designed to meet the needs, in relation to adoption, of -

(a)  children who have been or may be adopted,

(b)  parents and guardians of such children, and 

(c)  persons who have adopted or may adopt a child,

and for that purpose to provide the requisite facilities, or secure that they are provided by approved adoption societies.

(2)  The facilities to be provided as part of the service maintained under subsection (1) include -

(a)  temporary board and lodging where needed by pregnant women, mothers or children;

(b)  arrangements for assessing children and prospective adopters, and placing children for adoption;

(c)  counselling for persons with problems relating to adoption.

(3)  The facilities of the service maintained under subsection (1) shall be provided in conjunction with the local authority’s other social services and with approved adoption societies in their area, so that help may be given in a co-ordinated manner without duplication, omission or avoidable delay.

(4)  The services maintained by local authorities under subsection (1) may be collectively referred to as ‘the Adoption Service’, and a local authority or approved adoption society may be referred to as an adoption agency.

6  In reaching any decision relating to the adoption of a child a court or adoption agency shall have regard to all the circumstances, first consideration being given to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child throughout his childhood; and shall so far as practicable ascertain the wishes and feelings of the child regarding the decision and give due consideration to them, having regard to his age and understanding.

12(1)  An adoption order is an order [giving parental responsibility for a child to] the adopters, made on their application by an authorised court.

(2)  The order does not affect [parental responsibility so far as it relates] to any period before the making of the order.

(3)  The making of an adoption order operates to extinguish -

(a)  the parental responsibility which any person has for the child immediately before the making of the order;

(aa)  any order under the Children Act 1989]; and

(b)  any duty arising by virtue of an agreement or the order of a court to make payments, so far as the payments are in respect of the child’s maintenance or upbringing for any period after the making of the order.

(4)  Subsection (3)(b) does not apply to a duty arising by virtue of an agreement -

(a)  which constitutes a trust, or 

(b)  which expressly provides that the duty is not to be extinguished by the making of an adoption order.

(5)  An adoption order may not be made in relation to a child who is or has been married.

(6)  An adoption order may contain such terms and conditions as the court thinks fit.

16(1)  An adoption order shall not be made unless -

(a)  the child is free for adoption by virtue of an order made -

(i)    in England and Wales, under section 18;

(ii)   in Scotland, under section 18 of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978;

or

(iii)  in Northern Ireland, under Article 17(1) or 18(1) of the Adoption (Northern Ireland) Order 1987; or

(b)  in the case of each parent or guardian of the child the court is satisfied that -

(i)    he freely, and with full understanding of what is involved, agrees unconditionally to the making of an adoption order (whether or not he knows the identity of the applicants), or

(ii)   his agreement to the making of the adoption order should be dispensed with on a ground specified in subsection (2).

(2) The ground mentioned in subsection (1)(b)(ii) are that the parent or guardian –

(a) cannot be found or is incapable of giving agreement;

(b) is withholding his agreement unreasonably;

(c) has persistently failed without reasonable cause to discharge his parental responsibility for the child;

(d) has abandoned or  neglected the child;

(e) has persistently ill-treated the child;

(f) has seriously ill-treated the child (subject ot subsection (5))

39(1)   An adopted child shall be treated in law –

(a) where the adopters are a married couple, as if he had been born as a child of the marriage (whether or not he was in fact born after the mariage was solemnized);

(b) in any other case, as if he had been born to the adopter in wedlock (but not as a child of any actual marriage of the adopter.

(2) An adopted child shall, subject to subsection (3), be treated inn law as if he were not the child of any person other than the adopters or adopter.

72(1)  ‘parent’ means, in relation to a child, any parent who has parental responsibility for the child under the Children Act 1989.
3
Rules 2, 15, 17, 18, 21, 22 and 23 of the Adoption Rules 1984 provide as follows:

“2(1)  In these rules, unless the context otherwise requires – 

‘the 1958 Act’ means the Adoption Act 1958;

‘the 1968 Act’ means the Adoption Act 1968;

‘the 1975 Act’ means the Children Act 1975;

‘the 1980 Act’ means the Child Care Act 1980(d);

‘adoption agency’ means a local authority or approved adoption society;

‘the child’ means the person whom the applicant for an adoption order or an order authorising a proposed foreign adoption proposes to adopt, or, as the case may be, the person the adoption agency proposes should be freed for adoption;

‘Convention proceedings’ means proceedings in the High Court on an application for a Convention adoption order and proceedings in the High Court under the 1968 Act;

‘the court’ means the High Court and any county court having authority by virtue of section 100(2) of the 1975 Act to hear the application;

‘interim order’ means an order under section 19 of the 1975 Act;

‘order authorising a proposed foreign adoption’ means an order under section 25 of the 1975 Act;

‘process’ means, in the High Court, a summons and, in a county court, an application;

‘proper officer’ means, in the High Court, a registrar of the Principal Registry of the Family Division and, in a county court, the person defined as ‘proper officer’ by Order 1(3) of the County Court Rules 1981(a); and

‘regular armed forces of the Crown’ means the Royal Navy, the Regular Armed Forces as defined by section 225 of the Army Act 1955(b), the Regular Air Force as defined by section 223 of the Air Force Act 1955(c), the Queen Alexandra’s Royal Naval Nursing Service and the Women’s Royal Naval Service.

(2)  Expressions which are used in the 1975 Act have the same meaning as in that Act.

(3)  In these rules a rule referred to by number means the rule so numbered in these rules, and a form referred to by number means the form so numbered in Schedule 1 to these rules, or a form substantially to the like effect, with such variations as the circumstances may require.

15(1)  Proceedings for an adoption order shall be commenced -

(a)  by originating summons in Form 6 issued out of the Principal Registry of the Family Division; or

(b)  by filing in the office of the appropriate county court an originating application in Form 6.

(2)  The applicant shall be the proposed adopter and the respondents shall be -

(a)  each parent or guardian (not being an applicant) of the child, unless the child is free for adoption;

(c)  any adoption agency named in the application or in any form of agreement to the making of the adoption order as having taken part in the arrangements for the adoption of the child;

(e)  any local authority having the powers and duties of a parent or guardian of the child by virtue of section 10 of the 1980 Act;

(k)  in the High Court, the child.

(3)  The court may at any time direct that any other person or body, save in a county court the child, be made a respondent to the process.

(4)  On filing the originating process the applicant shall pay the appropriate fee and supply three copies of -

(a)  Form 6, together with any other documents required to be supplied,

and

(b)  where the child was not placed for adoption with the applicant by an adoption agency, save where the applicant or one of the applicants is a parent of the child, reports by a registered medical practitioner made not more than three months earlier on the health of the child and of each applicant, covering the matters specified in Schedule 3 to these rules.

17(1)  As soon as practicable after the originating process has been filed or at any stage thereafter, if the child is not free for adoption and if it appears that a parent or guardian of the child is willing to agree to the making of an adoption order and is in England and Wales, the proper officer shall appoint a reporting officer in respect of that parent or guardian, and shall send to him a copy of the originating process and any documents attached thereto.

(2)  The same person may be appointed as reporting officer in respect of two or more parents or guardians of the child.

(3)  The reporting officer shall be appointed from a panel established by the Guardians Ad Litem and Reporting Officers (Panels) Regulations 1983 but shall not be a member or employee of any respondent body (except where a local authority is made a respondent only under rule 15(2)(d) nor have been involved in the making of any arrangements for the adoption of the child.

(4)  The reporting officer shall -

(a)  ensure so far as is reasonably practicable that any agreement to the making of the adoption order is given freely and unconditionally and with full understanding of what is involved.

(b)  witness the signature by the parent or guardian of the written agreement to the making of the adoption order;

(c)  investigate all the circumstances relevant to that agreement; and

(d)  on completing his investigations make a report in writing to the court, drawing attention to any matters which, in his opinion, may be of assistance to the court in considering the application.

(5)  Paragraphs (5) to (8) of rule 5 shall apply to a reporting officer appointed under this rule as they apply to a reporting officer appointed under that rule.

5(5)  With a view to obtaining the directions of the court on any matter, the reporting officer may at any time make such interim report to the court as appears to him to be necessary and, in particular, the reporting officer shall make a report if a parent or guardian of the child is unwilling to agree to the making of an adoption order, and in such a case the proper officer shall notify the applicant;

(6)  The court may, at any time before the final determination of the application, require the reporting officer to perform such further duties as the court considers necessary.

(7)  The reporting officer shall attend any hearing of the application if so required by the court.

(8)  Any report made to the court under this rule shall be confidential.

18(1)  As soon as practicable after the originating process has been filed, or after receipt of the statement of facts supplied under rule 19, if the child is not free for adoption and if it appears that a parent or guardian of the child is unwilling to agree to the making of the adoption order, the proper officer shall appoint a guardian ad litem of the child and shall send to him a copy of the originating process together with any documents attached thereto.

(2)  Where there are special circumstances and it appears to the court that the welfare of the child requires it, the court may at any time appoint a guardian ad litem of the child and where such an appointment is made the court shall indicate any particular matters which it requires the guardian ad litem to investigate, and the proper officer shall send the guardian ad litem a copy of the originating process together with any documents attached thereto.

(3)  The same person may be appointed as reporting officer under rule 17(1) in respect of a parent or guardian who appears to be willing to agree to the making of the adoption order, and as guardian ad litem of the child under this rule, and, whether or not so appointed as reporting officer, the guardian ad litem may be appointed as reporting officer in respect of a parent or guardian of the child who originally was unwilling to the making of an adoption order but who later signifies his or her agreement.

(4)  In the High Court, unless the applicant desires some other person to act as guardian ad litem, the Official Solicitor shall, if he consents, be appointed as the guardian ad litem of the child.

(5)  In a county court and where, in the High Court, the Official Solicitor does not consent to act as guardian ad litem, or the applicant desires some other person so to act, the guardian ad litem shall be appointed from a panel established by the Guardians Ad Litem and Reporting Officers (Panels) Regulations 1983 but shall not be a member or employee of any respondent body (except where a local authority is made a respondent only under rule 15(2)(d) nor have been involved in the making of any arrangements for the adoption of the child.

(6)  With a view to safeguarding the interests of the child before the court the guardian ad litem shall, so far as is reasonably practicable -

(a)  investigate -

(i)    so far as he considers necessary, the matters alleged in the originating process, any report supplied under rule 22(1) or (2) and, where appropriate, the statement of facts supplied under rule 19;

(ii)   any other matters which appear to him to be relevant to the making of an adoption order;

(b)  advise whether, in his opinion, the child should be present at the hearing of the process; and

(c)  perform such other duties as appear to him to be necessary or as the court may direct.

(7)  Paragraphs (7) to (11) of rule 6 shall apply to a guardian ad litem appointed under this rule as they apply to a guardian ad litem appointed under that rule.

6(7)  On completing his investigations the guardian ad litem shall make a report in writing to the court, drawing attention to any matters which, in his opinion, may be of assistance to the court in considering the application.

(8)  With a view to obtaining the directions of the court on any matter, the guardian ad litem may at any time make such interim report to the court as appears to him to be necessary.

(9)  The court may, at any time before the final determination of the application, require the guardian ad litem to perform such further duties as the court considers necessary.

(10)  The guardian ad litem shall attend any hearing of the application unless the court otherwise orders.

(11)  Any report made to the court under this rule shall be confidential.

21(1)  Subject to paragraph (4), the proper officer shall list the case for hearing by a judge as soon as practicable after the originating process has been filed, and shall serve notice of the hearing on all the parties, the reporting officer and the guardian ad litem (if appointed) in Form 8.

(5)  If, at any stage before the hearing of the process, it appears to the court that directions for the hearing are required, the court may give such directions as it considers necessary and, in any event, the court shall, not less than four weeks before the date fixed for the hearing under paragraph (l), consider the documents relating to the process with a view to giving such further directions for the hearing as appear to the court to be necessary.

22(1)  Where the child was placed for adoption with the applicant by an adoption agency, that agency shall supply, within six weeks of receipt of the notice of hearing under rule 21, three copies of a report in writing covering the matters specified in Schedule 2 to these rules.

(2)  Where the child was not placed for adoption with the applicant by an adoption agency, the local authority to whom the notice under section 18 of the 1975 Act was given shall supply, within six weeks of receipt of the notice of hearing under rule 21, three copies of a report in writing covering the matters specified in Schedule 2 to these rules.

(3)  The court may request a further report under paragraph (1) or (2) and may indicate any particular matters it requires such a further report to cover.

(4)  The proper officer shall send a copy of any report supplied under paragraph (1) or (2) to the reporting officer and to the guardian ad litem (if appointed).

(5)  No other person shall be supplied with a copy of any report supplied under paragraph (1) or (2) and any such report shall be confidential.

23(1)  On the hearing of the process, any person upon whom notice is required to be served under rule 21 may attend and be heard on the question whether an adoption order should be made.”

Schedule 2 to the Adoption Rules provides a list of the matters to be covered by the report referred to in rule 22. 
PART C

Miscellaneous Family Law Points

This is the part of the schedule referred to in paragraph 58 of the judgment.  

In the judgment under the headings “The Family Law Background” and “The position in this case having regard the family law background” we have identified the most relevant sections of the Children Act and the Adoption Act that apply in this case on the basis that the children were being provided with accommodation by the local authority and not the Board (see paragraph 41 of the judgment).  These sections are also set out in Part B of this schedule.

1
Rights of the child.

1.1
Mrs Hedden referred regularly before us and in the papers before the Employment Tribunal to the “rights of the child”.  She did so both in relation to an alleged right to contact with the birth mother and alleged rights of the child to have his or her views taken into account, to take part in  reviews and to make complaints.

1.2
In our judgment to refer to the “rights” of the child in any of these contexts is not correct and can be misleading.

1.3
As mentioned in the judgment in private law cases contact is referred to as a right of the child.  But this reference to a “right” is in the context of the consideration the child’s welfare which is the court’s paramount consideration.  This “right” is therefore a general starting point or presumption in that consideration and may be overridden.  It is therefore not an enforceable right.  

1.4
As explained in the judgment the position relating to contact is more complicated in the case of a child placed for adoption.  It is therefore not correct to speak of the child having a “right” to contact with a member of his or her birth family in that situation.

1.5
The position of a child in relation to having his or her views taken into account and to take part in reviews and to make complaints (e.g. pursuant to s. 26 Children Act and regulations made thereunder) can perhaps more appropriately be described as “rights” but again in our judgment this is, or can be, misleading.  In our judgment the better approach to these matters is to regard them as an aspect of the need to have regard to the welfare of the relevant children and to that end for there to be properly informed discussions so that properly informed decisions are made.

1.6
For example in many cases the relevant children will be too young to express their views at a meeting (or to a court) and these views will be expressed to those involved and the decision makers by others (e.g. a parent or a court welfare officer).  The relevant duty is to have regard to the views and wishes of the child in considering what would best promote his or her welfare but this does not give the child the right to speak, or to be present at meetings or reviews or in court.  Here, for example, having regard the ages of Children B and C it is unlikely that they would have been made parties to any private law dispute on contact, or that it would have been in their best interests for them to be present when  difficult, and very possibly upsetting, issues relating to contact and adoption (which for example would be likely to include the capabilities of their birth mother and the proposed adopters) were discussed. 

1.7 
The wishes and feelings of the children are relevant but not decisive and the decisions fall to be made by adults.  Those decisions are not made in pursuance of or based on the “rights” of the children.

1.8
Here the children had been placed voluntarily with the local authority and the mother retained parental responsibility.  The information given to the mother and her position were important.  She could have made representations on behalf of the children.  If she did not (or could not) the relevant social worker at the local authority (on the basis that the local authority had the primary responsibility on issues of contact and welfare) had the primary duty to ensure that the views of the children were properly taken into account and that for example the mother was kept properly informed.

1.9
As appears from the judgment in our view the Board and Mrs Hedden could have sought to make their views (which would include the facts upon which they were based and therefore what they knew as to the wishes of the child) known pursuant to for example ss. 22(4)(d) and 26(3)(e) (i.e. any or such “other person”).  We note that this accords with:

(i) the view of Mr James in his paper dated 1 April 1996 which Mrs Hedden put before the Board at the disciplinary hearing held on 10 April 1996, and

(ii) Mrs Hedden’s assertions, and what she did in 1995 and 1996 (see for example her complaint dated 2 November 1995 enclosed with her letter dated 3 November 1995, albeit that there she asserted that she was also a qualifying individual on behalf of the child).

2.
The Representation Procedure (Children) Regulations 1991 (SI 1991/894)
2.1
 Mrs Hedden submitted regularly to us and has regularly asserted in her correspondence that this statutory instrument applies to the Board.  In support of that assertion she relied on Section 7 of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 and the guidance given pursuant to that.  

2.2
The Board deny that these regulations apply to them and assert and accept that they applied to the local authority. On the basis that the local authority was providing accommodation for the children and that the children were not being provided with accommodation by, or on behalf of, the Board: we agree.  This follows from Regulation 11, which is in the following terms:

 “The provisions of  Parts 1-3 of these Regulations shall apply where accommodation is provided for a child by a voluntary organisation and he is not looked after by a local authority.”
2.3
On that basis it follows that these regulations did not apply to a complaint made to or against the Board and thus for example to the complaints made to the Board by the proposed adopters and the social worker employed by the local authority.

2.4
As mentioned in paragraph 41 of the judgment Mrs Hedden made assertions to us that the children were accommodated by or on behalf of the Board.  For the reasons set out therein we do not accept that assertion.  We repeat that some of those reasons were that (i) there was no independent evidence to support this assertion and, so far as we are aware, it was not an assertion being made by Mrs Hedden in 1995 and 1996, (ii) further it was common ground that the children were being “looked after” by the local authority, and (iii) it was also common ground that the children were not in care and it follows that the common ground that they were being “looked after” by the local authority was based on the point that the children were being provided with accommodation by the local authority (see s. 22(1) Children Act).  Again we note that Mr James’ view that was put to the Board by Mrs Hedden was to the effect that s. 22 applied on the basis that the child was accommodated by the local authority.

2.5
 It follows that the common ground between the parties before the Employment Tribunal (and the view of Mr James put to the Board by Mrs Hedden) leads to the conclusion that these regulations do not apply to the Board.

2.6
Section 7 Local Government Act also does not apply to the Board.

2.7
These regulations apply to the local authority.

2.8
The Board in fact adopted a procedure for dealing with complaints that is very similar to that contained in these Regulations and (as one would expect) appears to be based on them.

3.
Review of Children’s Cases Regulations 1991 (SI 1991/895)
3.1
These apply to the local authority (see regulation 2 and the comments made under paragraph 2 above).

3.2
As we understood Mrs Hedden it was her case that these regulations applied to the local authority and her assertion was that the local authority was not complying with them properly.

3.3
In their application to the local authority in this case (see again paragraph 41 of the judgment and paragraph 2 above) these regulations relate to ss. 20 and 26 Children Act.

3.4
As appears from the judgment (paragraphs 47 and 56) we are of the view that these regulations and SI 1991/994 (see paragraph 2 above) were vehicles through which the Board and Mrs Hedden could have sought to make their views known to the local authority.

4.
The Arrangements for Placement of Children (General) Regulations 1991 (1991/890)
4.1
Again these apply to the local authority.

5. Sections 61 and 62 Children Act 1989

5.1
Mrs Hedden has asserted that these sections apply in this case.

5.2
In our judgment they only apply where a child is accommodated by, or on behalf of, a voluntary organisation (here the Board)

5.3
The points raised and covered in paragraph 41 of the judgment and paragraph 2 above are again relevant.  As appears therefrom we do not accept Mrs Hedden’s assertion that the children were accommodated by, or on behalf of, the Board. 

5.3
Additionally Mrs Hedden’s  assertions that these sections apply do not fit easily with her arguments based on the proposition (with which we and the Board agree) that sections 22 and 26 Children Act apply.  This is because those sections apply on the basis that it is the local authority that is providing the children with accommodation and not the Board

5.4
As to the application of s. 61, in her final written representations Mrs Hedden asked us to consider the opinion of Professor Michael Freeman which she said was enclosed.  It was not enclosed and following enquiry we were told that the reference to it being enclosed is the reference to that opinion under the heading “expert opinion” later in her written submissions.  There it is simply said without reasons that Mrs Hedden has consulted Professor Freeman and he confirmed her belief that s. 61 applied.  We cannot comment on Professor Freeman’s reasons because we do not know what they are.

6.
Section 74(2)(b) Children Act 1989

6.1
This applies to the cancellation of a registration under s. 71(1)(b) which does not apply in this case.

6.2 This section is irrelevant.

7.
Standard Statement 12 – “The role of the Adoption Service”
7.1
This is to the effect that the Board has one or more designated legal advisers suitably qualified in child care and family law who advises it on all matters which relate to the adoption process and that the legal adviser is available to the adoption panel and the Board’s staff.

7.2
The fact that this standard statement applied to the Board was not disputed.
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